ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to Lexington County
Eugene C. Griffith, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

JUL - 5 2013

S.C. Supreme Court

WENDELL G. DELARGE,

PETITIONER,

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

APPELATE CASE NO 2012-213290

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

KATHRINE H. HUDGINS
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

ISSUE PRESENTED

Was the guilty plea rendered involuntary by the fact that petitioner was not advised that the State would be asking for consecutive time and during the guilty plea the judge failed to explain that the maximum sentence that could be imposed was two consecutive thirty year sentences?

STATEMENT

In January of 2009, the Lexington County Grand Jury indicted Petitioner Delarge for criminal sexual conduct in the first degree and kidnapping, indictments #2009-GS-32-5187, 5188. On October 14, 2009, Delarge appeared before the Honorable Robin B. Stilwell and pled guilty as charged. Casey Cornwell represented Delarge. Shawn Graham prosecuted the case. Judge Stilwell sentenced Delarge to 25 years, consecutive, for each charge. A motion to reconsider sentence was filed and denied. A timely notice of intent to appeal was filed but, despite the filing of a motion to reconsider sentence, the South Carolina Court of Appeals dismissed the appeal.

On October 29, 2010, Delarge filed an application for post conviction relief. The State filed a return on January 19, 2011. On January 30, 2012 and February 2, 2012, an evidentiary hearing was held before the Honorable Eugene C. Griffith, Jr. Benjamin Stitely represented Delarge at the PCR hearing. Kaelon E. May was present for the State. In a written order filed October 22, 2012, Judge Griffith denied relief and dismissed the application. A timely notice of intent to appeal was filed on October 24, 2012. This petition for writ of certiorari follows.

ARGUMENT

The guilty plea was rendered involuntary by the fact that petitioner was not advised that the State would be asking for consecutive time and during the guilty plea the judge failed to explain that the maximum sentence that could be imposed was two consecutive thirty year sentences.

Delarge pled guilty to criminal sexual conduct first degree and kidnapping. During the guilty plea the plea judge asked plea counsel, "And have you also discussed with him the maximum possible penalty and sentence that he can receive under the charge, sir?" (App. p. 4, lines 20-22). Plea counsel replied, "Yes, sir." (App. p. 4, line 23). The plea judge then asked plea counsel, "is it your understanding that he understands these rights and the maximum possible penalty and wished to proceed today, sir?" (App. p. 4, line 24 – p. 5, line 1). Plea counsel replied, "Yes, sir." (App. p. 5, line 2). Later, the plea judge advised Delarge that he could be sentenced for 30 years in prison for criminal sexual conduct first degree and that he could be sentenced to up to 30 years for kidnapping. (App. p. 6, line 18 – p. 7, lines 1-21). The judge never specifically discussed the fact that the two sentences could be imposed consecutively.

The plea sheets reflect that the guilty plea was entered without negotiations or recommendation. (App. pp. 46-47). At the end of the guilty plea the State asked for the maximum sentence of 60 years, 30 years consecutive for each charge. (App. p. 25, lines 13-21). Counsel for Delarge requested a sentence of 10-15 years. (App. p. 31, lines 11-12). The judge sentenced Delarge to 25 years consecutive for each charge.

During the PCR hearing Delarge testified, "It was my understanding that once I admitted my guilt, which I state now that I'm not, that he would take no position in the sentence that I would receive, sir. That was my understanding." (App. p. 153, line 25, - p. 154, lines 1-3). Delarge further testified, "I was greatly uncomfortable pleading because I really didn't want to, but being advised by Mr. Cornwell, I did so, only under his advisement. And when it was said that he - - he

recommended that I receive sentences ran consecutive and that I receive sixty years, I nudged Mr. Cornwell and stated basically, that - - you know what's up with this. That's kind of what my words were. And he said hold on, I got this, I'll take care of it kind of sort of." (App. p. 154, lines 13-20). Delarge's testimony reflects that he was not advised that the State would be seeking two thirty year consecutive sentences.

Delarge explained, "Yes, sir, Mr. Cornwell explained to me basically the open plea because he's charged with zero to thirty; and like I say, it was just prior to that that I received the written agreement, the second agreement in the kidnapping." (App. p. 155, lines 9-12). Delarge's testimony reflects that he did not understand that the Judge could impose consecutive sentences. Delarge testified that if he had known the solicitor was going to recommend the maximum consecutive sentence, he would have gone to trial. (App. p. 155, lines 13-18).

Plea counsel testified at the PCR hearing, "I basically said that the judge could sentence him however he wanted to. When there's no recommendation, you can get up to the max on each sentence." (App. p. 90, lines 19-21). Plea counsel did not testify that he specifically advised Delarge that the judge could impose consecutive sentences amounting to an aggregate sentence of 60 years. Plea counsel admitted that Delarge may have understood that a guilty plea entered without negotiations or recommendation meant that the State would not ask for a specific sentence. (App. p. 91, lines 1-15).

In the order of dismissal the PCR judge wrote, "The Applicant asked Mr. Cornwell to explain what 'without recommendations or negotiations' on the Applicant's sentencing sheet meant. Throughout the guilty plea hearing, the Applicant nudged Mr. Cornwell because the applicant was uncomfortable during the plea. Mr. Cornwell explained to the Applicant that the plea was an open plea with a sentence range of zero (0) to sixty (60) years." (App. p. 241). As discussed above, plea

counsel Cornwell admitted that Delarge may have misunderstood the meaning of “without recommendations or negotiations.” (App. p. 91, lines 1-15). The record does not support a finding that plea counsel advised Delarge he was facing a sentence of zero (0) to sixty (60) years. The State, citing State v. Rikard, 371 S.C. 295, 638 S.E.2d 72 (Ct. App. 2006) (cert. denied November 15, 2007) argued, “The guilty plea transcript reflects that Mr. Delarge indicated he understood the charges, the possible sentences and of the plea was straight up. Either party is free to request a favorable sentence.” (App. p. 231, lines 6-10). The plea judge at the guilty plea, however, did not specifically advise Delarge that he was facing a sentence of zero (0) to sixty (60) years. The guilty plea was rendered involuntary by the fact that Delarge was not advised that he could receive a sentence of zero (0) to sixty (60) years.

A criminal defendant is guaranteed the right to effective assistance of counsel under the Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution. U.S. Const. amend. VI; Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984). Courts evaluate allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel using a two-pronged test. Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 117, 386 S.E.2d 624, 625 (1989) (citing Strickland, 466 U.S. at 668, 104 S.Ct. 2052). First, the applicant must demonstrate counsel's representation was deficient, which is measured by an objective standard of reasonableness. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687–88, 104 S.Ct. 2052. “Under this prong, ‘[t]he proper measure of attorney performance remains simply reasonableness under prevailing professional norms.’” Cherry, 300 S.C. at 117, 386 S.E.2d at 625 (quoting Strickland, 466 U.S. at 688, 104 S.Ct. 2052). Second, the applicant must demonstrate he was prejudiced by counsel's performance in such a manner that, but for counsel's error, there is a reasonable probability the result of the proceedings would have been different. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 694,

104 S.Ct. 2052. “A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome.” Id.

The Strickland test operates similarly when an applicant claims counsel was ineffective in the context of a guilty plea. Hill v. Lockhart, 474 U.S. 52, 58, 106 S.Ct. 366, 88 L.Ed.2d 203 (1985). The Due Process Clause requires that guilty pleas are entered into voluntarily, knowingly, and intelligently by defendants. Boykin v. Alabama, 395 U.S. 238, 89 S.Ct. 1709, 23 L.Ed.2d 274 (1969). A guilty plea may not be accepted unless it is voluntarily and understandingly made. Boykin v. Alabama, 395 U.S. 238, 89 S.Ct. 1709, 23 L.Ed.2d 274 (1969). “To find a guilty plea is voluntarily and knowingly entered into, the record must establish the defendant had a full understanding of the consequences of his plea and the charges against him.” Roddy v. State, 339 S.C. 29, 33, 528 S.E.2d 418, 421 (2000). “A defendant's knowing and voluntary waiver of the constitutional rights which accompany a guilty plea ‘may be accomplished by colloquy between the Court and the defendant, between the Court and defendant's counsel, or both.’ ” Pittman v. State, 337 S.C. 597, 599, 524 S.E.2d 623, 625 (1999) (quoting State v. Ray, 310 S.C. 431, 437, 427 S.E.2d 171, 174 (1993)). “The longstanding test for determining the validity of a guilty plea is ‘whether the plea represents a voluntary and intelligent choice among the alternative courses of action open to the defendant.’ ” Hill, 474 U.S. at 56, 106 S.Ct. 366 (quoting North Carolina v. Alford, 400 U.S. 25, 31, 91 S.Ct. 160, 27 L.Ed.2d 162 (1970)).

As noted by the Court in Pittman v. State, 337 S.C. 597, 524 S.E.2d 623 (1999), “In addition to the requirements of Boykin, a defendant entering a guilty plea must be aware of the nature and crucial elements of the offense, the maximum and any mandatory minimum penalty, and the nature of the constitutional rights being waived.” Pittman at 624, citing State v. Hazel, 275 S.C. 392, 271 S.E.2d 602 (1980); Dover v. State, 304 S.C. 433, 405 S.E.2d 391 (1991).


“The second, or ‘prejudice,’ requirement ... focuses on whether counsel's constitutionally ineffective performance affected the outcome of the plea process.” Hill, 474 U.S. at 59, 106 S.Ct. 366. “A defendant who enters a plea on the advice of counsel may only attack the voluntary and intelligent character of a plea by showing that counsel's representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness and that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's errors, the defendant would not have pled guilty, but would have insisted on going to trial.” Rolen v. State, 384 S.C. 409, 413, 683 S.E.2d 471, 474 (2009).

The guilty plea was rendered involuntary because Delarge was not aware of the maximum 60 year sentence he faced. There is a reasonable probability that if Delarge had known he faced two consecutive thirty years sentences, he would not have pled guilty but would have insisted on going to trial. The case is distinguished from Rikard because Rikard was advised of the maximum penalty she faced. Delarge is entitled to a new trial.

CONCLUSION

Based on the above argument, the petition for writ of certiorari should be granted to allow further briefing on the issue.