STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Supreme Court

---

APPEAL FROM LEXINGTON COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Eugene C. Griffith, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2012-213290

---

Wendell G. Delarge,.....Petitioner,

v.

State of South Carolina,.....Respondent.

---

**RETURN TO PETITION FOR  
WRIT OF CERTIORARI**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

WALT WHITMIRE  
Assistant Attorney General  
S.C. Bar # 100793

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, S.C. 29211  
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

**

## **QUESTION PRESENTED**

1. If is the present argument is even preserved for this Court's review, did the record show Petitioner's plea was rendered involuntary by counsel's advice and the plea judge's colloquy?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Lexington County Grand Jury indicted Petitioner at the January term of General Sessions for criminal sexual conduct, first-degree (2009-GS-32-5188) and kidnapping (2009-GS-32-5187). (App.pp.42-7). Casey Cornwell, Esquire, represented Petitioner.

Petitioner entered a guilty plea as indicted on October 14, 2009. The solicitor presented the factual basis for the offense: upon driving away from a quick stop at a convenience store, an unknown male, Petitioner, startled the victim when he placed his hand on her throat; the victim was directed to drive to various locations at the threat of death; she was ordered to park the vehicle in an unlit elementary school parking lot; an order to disrobe followed with a sexual assault; A C.O.D.I.S. match from the rape kit identified Petitioner as the perpetrator; police forcibly located and detained Petitioner despite his attempts to resist the arrest. (App.pp.11-5). The solicitor requested the plea judge impose consecutive sentences of thirty years imprisonment on each offense. Counsel disputed facts only related to the kidnapping offense. (App.pp.28-9). Petitioner ensured the plea judge that his decision to plea correlated with his guilt. (App.p.9). Petitioner further ensured the plea judge he understood was facing a maximum thirty year term of imprisonment on each offense. (App.p.6; p.7). The Honorable Robin B. Stillwell sentenced Petitioner to consecutive terms of twenty-five years imprisonment on each offense. (App.pp.1-41).

A notice of appeal was filed on Petitioner's behalf at the South Carolina Court of Appeals. By order dated on or about December 7, 2009, the South Carolina Court of

Appeals dismissed the appeal.

Petitioner filed an Application for Post-Conviction Relief (PCR) on October 29, 2010 (App.pp.48-58). A hearing was convened at the Lexington County Courthouse on January 30, 2012 and February 2, 2012. (App.pp.65-233). Petitioner was present and represented by Benjamin Stitely, Esquire. Kaelon May, Esquire, of the South Carolina Attorney General's Office represented Respondent. The Honorable Eugene C. Griffith denied relief in an order dated October 2, 2012. (App.pp.234-52). No post-trial motions were filed. This appeal follows.

## STANDARD OF REVIEW

The proper standard for review of a PCR evidentiary hearing is whether “any evidence of probative value” exists to sustain the post-conviction relief judge’s findings. Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 119, 386 S.E.2d 624, 626 (1989). In a post-conviction relief proceeding, the applicant bears the burden of proving the allegations in their application. Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441, 442, 334 S.E.2d 813, 814 (1985).

## ARGUMENT

**The unpreserved argument that Petitioner's plea was rendered involuntary by counsel's performance and the plea judge's colloquy is without merit because the record clearly shows Petitioner was aware of the terms of the plea, the full sentencing range, and the option to withdraw the entry of the plea.**

At the PCR hearing, Petitioner raised nearly a dozen separate claims for relief predicated upon ineffective assistance of counsel or prosecutorial misconduct.

Counsel testified he met with Petitioner on at least six occasions. (App.p.103). Counsel explained that "without negotiation or recommendation" to Petitioner in the context of the judge's sentencing discretion. (App.p.90). Counsel reviewed the proscribed sentencing range for the charged offenses with Petitioner. (App.p.103). He described Petitioner as an engaged client. (App.p.105). Counsel testified that he specifically told Petitioner that he could stand down during the course of the plea hearing. Counsel explained to Petitioner that he would move to withdraw Petitioner's entry of a plea upon request. (App.pp.110-1). Counsel testified it was Petitioner's decision to plead guilty. (App.p.109). Counsel elaborated that Petitioner's case was scheduled on the trial roster when Petitioner decided to plead guilty as indicted. Counsel was prepared to take Petitioner's case to trial. (App.p.99).

In denying Petitioner's application for post-conviction relief, the PCR judge did not rule on the issue raised before this Court. (App.p.243-51).<sup>1</sup>

For an applicant to be granted PCR as a result of ineffective assistance of counsel, he must show both: (1) that his counsel failed to render reasonably effective assistance

---

<sup>1</sup>Respondent notes the PCR judge ruled on ten ineffective assistance of counsel allegations and one prosecutorial misconduct allegation in the filed Order of Dismissal.

under prevailing professional norms, and (2) that he was prejudiced by his counsel's ineffective performance. See Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S. Ct. 2052 (1984); Porter v. State, 368 S.C. 378, 383, 629 S.E.2d 353, 356 (2006). In order to prove prejudice, an applicant must show "there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different." Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. at 117-18, 386 S.E.2d at 625. "A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome of trial." Johnson v. State, 325 S.C. 182, 186, 480 S.E.2d 733, 735 (1997) (citing Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S. Ct. 2052 (1984)).

Respondent submits the issue presented by Petitioner is unpreserved for this Court's review. "An issue that was neither raised to nor ruled upon by the PCR court is not preserved for appellate review." Kolle v. State, 386 S.C. 578, 589, 690 S.E.2d 73, 79 (2010). A PCR court "shall make specific findings of fact, and state expressly its conclusions of law, relating to each issue presented." S.C.Code Ann. § 17-27-80 (2003). Marlar v. State, 373 S.C. 275, 279, 644 S.E.2d 769, 771 (Ct. App. 2007) cert. granted, opinion rev'd, 375 S.C. 407, 653 S.E.2d 266 (2007); see also State v. Freiburger, 366 S.C. 125, 134, 620 S.E.2d 737, 741 (2005) (finding argument advanced on appeal was not raised and ruled on below and therefore was not preserved for review.).

The PCR judge did not address any issues related to ineffective assistance for failure to advise or involuntary guilty plea allegations within the section four of the order of dismissal. (App.pp.243-51). The Order was structured in a manner that categorically delineated the PCR judge's finding of facts and conclusions of law from the remainder of

the Order. Petitioner's mere reference to the PCR judge's summary of facts found in section two of the Order does not satisfy this Court's unambiguous issue preservation requirements. See Marlar v. State, 375 S.C. 407, 410, 653 S.E.2d 266, 267 (2007); see also Burgess v. State, 402 S.C. 92, 738 S.E.2d 264 (Ct. App. 2013).

Furthermore, Petitioner did not file a motion to alter or amend to preserve the argument for this Court's review. "It is incumbent upon a party in a PCR action to file a Rule 59(e), SCRCP, motion in the event the PCR court fails to make specific findings of fact and conclusions of law regarding an issue." Burgess, 402 S.C. at 95, 738 S.E.2d at 265; see also Marlar, 375 S.C. at 410, 653 S.E.2d at 267 (citing Pruitt v. State, 310 S.C. at 256, 423 S.E.2d at 128) ("Even after an order is filed, counsel has an obligation to review the order and file a Rule 59(e), SCRCP, motion to alter or amend if the order fails to set forth the findings and the reasons for those findings as required by 17-27-80 and Rule 52(a), SCRCP."). Therefore, this Court should affirm the PCR judge's denial of the Application without an unnecessary substantive review of the present argument.

Notwithstanding the preservation bar, Respondent submits the unpreserved issue lacks merit because the record unequivocally shows Petitioner's plea was not rendered involuntary as a result of counsel's performance or the plea judge's colloquy. "A defendant who enters a plea on the advice of counsel may only attack the voluntary and intelligent character of a plea by showing that counsel's representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness and that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's errors, the defendant would not have pled guilty, but would have insisted on going to trial." Rolen v. State, 384 S.C. 409, 413, 683 S.E.2d 471, 474 (2009). "The

voluntariness of a guilty plea is not determined by an examination of a specific inquiry made by the sentencing judge alone, but is determined from both the record made at the time of the entry of the guilty plea, and also from the record of the PCR hearing.” Holden v. State, 393 S.C. 565, 573, 713 S.E.2d 611, 615 (2011) (citing Roddy v. State, 339 S.C. 29, 33, 528 S.E.2d 418, 420 (2000)).

The record clearly shows counsel’s performance in advising Petitioner on entering the guilty pleas was nothing less than satisfactory. Counsel indisputably advised Petitioner of the maximum possible sentence for both offenses. (App.p.103; p.108; p.110). Counsel advised Petitioner on the terms of the plea agreement that allowed for absolute judicial discretion in sentencing. Simply, the PCR judge did not make an adverse credibility finding to negate the propriety of counsel’s testimony. See Harres v. Leeke, 282 S.C. 131, 318 S.E.2d 360 (1984) (“When determining issues relating to guilty pleas, the Court will consider the entire record, including the transcript of the guilty plea, and the evidence presented at the PCR hearing.”).

Although Petitioner submits counsel’s failure to adequately advise him on the difference between a plea pursuant to the State recommendation and a “straight-up” plea constituted ineffective assistance of counsel, the argument lacks traction. First, it is objectively unreasonable for Petitioner to assert he failed to understand the difference between the two. Petitioner’s arrest record spanned five prior convictions at the time of the plea. Certainly Petitioner’s General Sessions experience educated him on the matter. Second, Petitioner’s contradictory testimony from the PCR hearing lacked any credibility. Petitioner first testified he spoke truthfully at the plea hearing then immediately testified

he lied to the plea judge at counsel's insistence. (App.pp.163-4; p.165). The PCR judge commented on the systemic contradiction. (App.p.170, line 22).

Last, the plea judge's thorough colloquy rendered the plea voluntary. "A defendant entering a guilty plea must be aware of the nature and crucial elements of the offense, the maximum and any mandatory minimum penalty, and the nature of the constitutional rights being waived." Anderson v. State, 342 S.C. 54, 57, 535 S.E.2d 649, 651 (2000). In the present case, the plea judge advised Petitioner elements and maximum punishment for each offense. The plea judge questioned Petitioner on each significant constitutional waiver. Furthermore, counsel ensured the plea judge that he previously discussed all of the above with Petitioner. Petitioner's admission of guilt accompanied the solicitor's detailed recitation of both offenses. Accordingly, Petitioner failed to prove the first prong of the Strickland test – that counsel failed to render reasonably effective assistance under prevailing professional norms.

Similarly, Petitioner also failed to prove the second prong of Strickland – that he was prejudiced by counsel's performance. At the plea hearing, the solicitor asked the plea judge to impose a maximum sentence to be served consecutively. During the mitigation phase of the hearing, counsel asked the plea judge not to sentence Petitioner to a consecutive term of imprisonment. See Wolfe v. State, 326 S.C. 158, 165, 485 S.E.2d 367, 370 (1997) (citing Rayford v. State, 314 S.C. 46, 443 S.E.2d 805 (1994) (where transcript of guilty plea proceeding refuted applicant's claim that he did not understand the terms of a plea bargain, grant of PCR was inappropriate notwithstanding applicant's claim lawyer misadvised him). Counsel unequivocally told Petitioner that he would make

a motion to withdraw Petitioner's guilty plea on command during the plea hearing. Petitioner's decision not to withdraw his guilty plea negated any claim of prejudice. Additionally, Petitioner noticeably did not apprise the plea judge of his alleged misinterpretation of counsel's previous advice on the matter when Petitioner addressed the court during the mitigation phase of hearing. (App.p.35). Dalton v. State, 376 S.C. 130, 137-38, 654 S.E.2d 870, 874 (Ct. App. 2007) (citing Crawford v. United States, 519 F.2d 347 (4th Cir.1975) ("Statements made during a guilty plea should be considered conclusive unless a criminal inmate presents valid reasons why he should be allowed to depart from the truth of his statements.")).

As Petitioner failed to meet this burden of proving ineffective assistance of trial counsel on this issue, the PCR judge did not err in denying the PCR application. See Frasier v. State, 351 S.C. 385, 389, 570 S.E.2d 172, 174 (2002) ("The burden of proof is on the applicant to prove his allegations by a preponderance of the evidence.").

### CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, Respondent submits this Court should deny the Petition for Writ of Certiorari. However, if this Court grants certiorari, Respondent requests the opportunity to fully brief the issue discussed above.